
                                  

AGENDA
For a meeting of the

COMMUNITIES POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUP
to be held on

THURSDAY, 10 MARCH 2016
at

2.30 PM
in

WITHAM ROOM - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ

Beverly Agass, Chief Executive    

Group Members: Councillor Duncan Ashwell, Councillor Ashley Baxter, 
Councillor Barry Dobson, Councillor Mike Exton, Councillor 
Charmaine Morgan, Councillor Mrs Andrea Webster (Vice-
Chairman) and Councillor Rosemary H Woolley (Chairman)

Executive Member(s): Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright: Executive Member, 
Housing

Support Officer: Jo Toomey Tel: 01476 40 60 80 (ext. 6152)
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk

Members of the Group are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed below.

1. COMMENTS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

2. MEMBERSHIP

The Group to be notified of any substitute members.

3. APOLOGIES

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.



5. NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 14 JANUARY 2016

(Enclosure)

6. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS

 Proposed closure of Grantham Magistrates’ Court
 Air Quality Action Plan 

7. FEEDBACK FROM THE EXECUTIVE

8. REVIEW OF COMMUNAL FACILITIES IN SHELTERED HOUSING 
SCHEMES

Report number BMH105 of the Business Manager, Housing. (Enclosure)

9. ALLOCATIONS POLICY

Report number BMH107 of the Business Manager, Housing. (Enclosure)

10. WORK PROGRAMME

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS, WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT



MEETING OF THE
COMMUNITIES POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT GROUP

THURSDAY, 14 JANUARY 2016 2.30 PM

GROUP MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Duncan Ashwell
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Mike Exton

Councillor Charmaine Morgan
Councillor Mrs Andrea Webster (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor Rosemary H Woolley 
(Chairman)

PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
Councillor Bob Adams, Leader of the Council, Portfolio: Grow the Economy - 
Economic Development
Councillor Terl Bryant, Portfolio Holder: Strategic Resources - Well Run Council
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright, Portfolio Holder: Good Housing
Councillor Nick Craft, Deputy Leader of the Council. Portfolio: Healthy Environment

OFFICERS OTHER MEMBERS PRESENT

Strategic Director, Property & 
Environment (Tracey Blackwell)
Executive Manager, Environment (Ian 
Yates)
Business Manager, Environmental 
Health (Anne-Marie Coulthard)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

Councillor Bob Sampson

37. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed.

38. ACTION NOTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 19 NOVEMBER 2015

The action notes from the meeting held on 19 November 2015 were noted.

Page - 3

Agenda Item 5



2

39. UPDATES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING

Members noted that the date of the additional meeting to discuss the draft 
Housing Allocations Policy would take place on Tuesday 19 January 2016.

The recommendations made by the PDG regarding the Waste Policy were 
considered at the Cabinet meeting on 11 January 2016 and approved. The 
members of the PDG were thanked for the work they had undertaken.

40. FEEDBACK FROM THE EXECUTIVE

Members of the Cabinet reported that work on the budget for 2016/17 was 
ongoing, with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Resources – Well Run Council 
inviting members to bring forward any issues they wished to be considered. 
The PDG was also informed that work on the creation of a Local Authority 
Controlled Company was also ongoing.

41. PRIORITISING ENFORCEMENT ACTION

The Executive Manager, Environment presented report number ENV636 on 
prioritising enforcement actions. Examples of those service areas where 
enforcement action was required included: environmental health, planning, 
housing and debt collection. Within these service areas were a number of 
different activities against which the Council was required to enforce.

The report recommended that there should be an agreed corporate framework 
for assessing enforcement priorities. This would be complemented by 
operational enforcement protocols and case gateway reviews to ensure a fair, 
consistent and efficient approach to enforcement activity.

To illustrate the range of enforcement actions undertaken by just one service, 
members were given an overview of those which related directly to 
Environmental Health. The report proposed a number of criteria against which 
enforceable activity would be assessed to help with the allocation of resources:

 Public safety
 Immediate and significant environmental harm or nuisance
 Significant financial loss to the organisation
 Significant impact on the delivery of the Council’s overall priorities
 There is a statutory duty or National Standard/Enforcement Priority

Appendix two to the report showed the application of the proposed criteria in 
prioritising activity that was enforceable by the Environmental Health team.

Members also received a brief explanation of the profile of enforcement action 
that was undertaken for the Environmental Health area – 1,633 investigations, 
119 formal actions and 10 prosecutions. This demonstrated that a majority of 

Page - 4



3

incidents were dealt with at an early stage. Any enforcement action that was 
undertaken and the methods used to carry out that action had to be 
proportionate to the potential risk and the scale of the incident. 

Officers advised that wherever possible, the Council sought to recover full 
costs.

Members of the PDG were given the opportunity to discuss the report. A 
number of members referred to the priority that was given to graffiti removal, 
particularly when it was either offensive or in a public place. A suggestion was 
made that greater priority should be given to the removal of graffiti when a 
cumulative trigger was reached. Members also questioned whether there was a 
correlation between the increases in fly-tipping and the changes to the opening 
hours of the Grantham Household Recycling Centre.

Other areas of discussion covered the restrictions and safeguards of using 
CCTV as an enforcement tool, work that was being undertaken with colleagues 
in Lincolnshire Police and the importance of individuals and communities taking 
responsibility for their area. Specific reference was made to River Care in 
Grantham, which regularly cleared the River Witham, and a successful 
campaign in Thurlby to tackle dog fouling. 

Councillors noted that there was the opportunity to report environmental issues 
through the Council’s website using the ‘Report It’ function. Some members of 
the PDG already used the facility, providing positive feedback.

Feedback from members on the proposal to prioritise enforcement action was 
positive.

42. AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN

The Executive Manager, Environment and the Business Manager 
Environmental Health gave a brief presentation on work around the Grantham 
Air Quality Action Plan. They explained that Grantham has had an Air Quality 
Management Area for some time. The previous areas which covered Brook 
Street and Wharf Road had been extended to an area running to the Asda 
roundabout and providing a spine through Grantham covering Watergate, High 
Street, St. Peter’s Hill, London Road and Bridge End Road to the Bridge over 
the River Witham.

Air samples had been taken across Grantham to find an annual mean. The 
outcome of this work led to the extension of the area, which covered those 
parts of Grantham where there was the most traffic congestion.

Officers explained that there were national improvements in air quality as a 
result of improved technology to reduce vehicle emissions. These 
improvements were expected to assist in the improvement of air quality 
standards in Grantham however a specific action plan had also been 

Page - 5



4

developed:

1. Deliver Grantham Southern Relief Road
2. Improve traffic management at key junctions
3. Improve bus fleet emissions
4. Encourage modal shift through alternative travel plans for schools
5. Reduce traffic idling in the air quality management area by provision of 

signage
6. Provision of cycling infrastructure
7. Rolling replacement of the Council’s commercial fleet with the latest 

available CAT standard vehicles
8. Promote the use of cleaner alternative fuels
9. Facilitate better travel planning amongst Council employees, e.g. car 

sharing
10.Promotion of walking, cycling and public transport

It was noted that successful delivery of the proposed action plan would be 
reliant on working in partnership with Lincolnshire County Council.

During discussion members referred to the need to incorporate the 
infrastructure to promote alternatives to private car use in new developments. 
Specific reference was made to the proposals for the southern urban extension 
of Grantham, balancing the potential impact on the increased number of car 
users it would bring against plans to incorporate cycleways, extend the 
riverside walk and the potential to bring new public transport routes to the area. 

Members also referred to the impact of planning trees on the quality of air and 
the importance of education in promoting modal shift.

The PDG also asked about the Council’s policy for the replacement of its fleet 
and the opportunity to find cleaner alternatives. Members were advised that 
greatest priority was given to the larger, waste vehicles, which were the ones 
that caused most pollution, were regularly upgraded to the highest available 
CAT rating. When considering replacements to other vehicles, an assessment 
of whole-life cost was made, and where possible, vehicles with lower emissions 
were selected.

Members were informed that the draft action plan would be subject to an 8-
week period of consultation. Members requested that feedback from the 
consultation should be reported to the PDG.

43. UPDATES FROM WORKING GROUPS

The car parking working group had not met since the last meeting of the PDG 
on 19 November 2015. The next meeting of the working group was scheduled 
for 18 January 2016 with any feedback from that working group being reported 
to the next meeting of the PDG (10 March 2016).

Page - 6



5

44. WORK PROGRAMME

Members of the PDG noted that part of its ongoing work programme would 
include the Housing Allocations Policy and the impact on that policy of the final 
version of the Housing and Planning Bill. An updated work programme was 
requested to indicate likely topics that would be coming forward.

45. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:58.

Page - 7



Page - 8

Agenda Item 6



Page - 9



Published on 11 02 2016  

 

 

 

Potential implementation dates  
These dates give an indication of when courts will cease to provide a public-
facing service. Please note that this timetable is subject to change as the 
programme progresses. 

 
London  Date 

Tranche 1 

Richmond-upon-Thames Magistrates' Court 

Hammersmith County Court (formerly West London County Court) 
      

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

None 

 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Tranche 3 

Bow County Court 

Pocock Street Tribunal Hearing Centre 

Waltham Forest Magistrates' Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

Greenwich Magistrates' Court 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

Tottenham Magistrates' Court 

Woolwich County Court 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

Feltham Magistrates' Court 

Lambeth County Court 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

 

 

 

Page - 10



Published on 11 02 2016  

South East  Date 

Tranche 1 

Basildon Social Security and Child Support Tribunal (Acorn House) 

Dartford Magistrates' Court 

Lowestoft Magistrates’ Court, County Court and Family Court 

West Berkshire (Newbury) Magistrates' Court      

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

Bury St. Edmunds Magistrates’ Court and Family Court and Bury St. 
Edmunds Crown Court  

King's Lynn County Court and Family Court 

 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Tranche 3 

Aylesbury Magistrates, County Court and Family Court 

Chichester Magistrates' Court 

Dover Magistrates' Court 

Eastbourne Magistrates' Court, County Court and Family Court 

St Albans County Court 

Tunbridge Wells County Court and Family Court 

Watford Magistrates' Court and Family Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

Bedford and Mid Beds Magistrates’ Court and Family Court and Bedford 
County Court and Family Court 

Bicester Magistrates' Court and Family Court 

Chichester Combined Court (Crown and County) 

Colchester County Court and Family Court 

Colchester County Court Offices 

Harlow Magistrates' Court 

Redhill Magistrates’ Court and Family Court and Reigate County Court 
and Family Court 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 
 
Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 
 
Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

None 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

None 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

 

Page - 11



Published on 11 02 2016  

 

 

 

 
South West  Date 

Tranche 1 

Barnstaple Crown Court       

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

Cheltenham Rivershill House Tribunal 

Gloucester Magistrates' Court 

Stroud Magistrates' Court 

Dorchester Crown Court 

 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Tranche 3 

Bournemouth Magistrates' Court 

Fareham Magistrates' Court 

North Avon (Yate) Magistrates' Court  

Torquay Magistrates' Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

None 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

Chippenham Magistrates' Court, Civil Court and Family Court 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

None 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page - 12



Published on 11 02 2016  

 

 

 

 

Midlands  Date 

Tranche 1 

Shrewsbury Magistrates' Court 

Solihull Magistrates' Court 

Worksop Magistrates' Court 

Buxton Magistrates' Court and County Court 

Corby Magistrates' Court 

Grantham Magistrates' Court 

Kettering Magistrates' Court         

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

Burton-upon-Trent Magistrates' Court 

Hinckley Magistrates' Court 

Sandwell Magistrates' Court 

Skegness Magistrates' Court 

 
Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 
Tranche 3 

Kettering County Court 

Stafford Magistrates' Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

None 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

Birmingham Youth Court 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

None 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

 

 

 

 

Page - 13



Published on 11 02 2016  

 

 

 

 

 

North East  Date 

Tranche 1 

Morpeth County Court       

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

Consett Magistrates' Court 

Wakefield Magistrates' Court 

 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 
Tranche 3 

Halifax County Court and Family Court 

Halifax (Calderdale) Magistrates' Court and Family Court 

Rotherham Magistrates' Court, County Court and Family Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

Hartlepool Magistrates' Court and County Court 

Scunthorpe Magistrates' Court, County Court and Family Court 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

None 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

None 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page - 14



Published on 11 02 2016  

 

 

 

North West  Date 

Tranche 1 

Accrington County Court 

Accrington Magistrates' Court 

Kendal Magistrates' Court and County Court 

Ormskirk Magistrates' Court and Family Court 

St Helens Magistrates' Court 

Tameside County Court 

Trafford Magistrates' Court and Altrincham County Court     

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

Macclesfield County Court 

Macclesfield Magistrates' Court 

Oldham Magistrates' Court 

Warrington County Court 

 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Tranche 3 

Bolton County Court and Family Court 

Runcorn (Halton) Magistrates' Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

Bury Magistrates' Court and County Court 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

Oldham County Court 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

None 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page - 15



Published on 11 02 2016  

 

 

 

 

 

Wales  Date 
Tranche 1 

Carmarthen Law Courts (The Guildhall) 

Holyhead Magistrates' Court 

Prestatyn Magistrates' Court 

Dolgellau Crown Court and Magistrates' Court     

 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Feb 16 - Jun 16 

Tranche 2 

Bridgend Law Courts 

Neath and Port Talbot Civil and Family Court 

Pontypridd Magistrates' Court 

Wrexham Tribunal (Rhyd Broughton)   

 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Jul 16 - Sep 16 

Tranche 3 

Llangefni Civil and Family Court 

 

Oct 16 - Dec 16 

Tranche 4 

Brecon Law Courts 

 

Jan 17 - Mar 17 

Tranche 5 

None 

 

Apr 17 - Jun 17 

Tranche 6 

None 

 

Jul 17 - Sep 17 

 

Page - 16



Page 1 

REPORT TO COMMUNITIES P.D.G

REPORT OF:   Lisa Barker Business Manager 

REPORT NO:  BMH 105

DATE:    10 March 2016

TITLE: Sheltered Communal Rooms and Guest Rooms 
Policies

KEY DECISION  OR 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

To agree and ratify a Community Rooms Policy and 
Guest Room Policy for Sheltered Housing

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Frances Cartwright: Housing

CONTACT OFFICER: Lisa Barker 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 Ext. 6251
E-mail: l.barker@southkesteven.gov.uk

INITIAL IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and Diversity

Carried out and can 
confirm there is a 
positive or neutral 
impact on all 
equality groups

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council 
and  Democracy link on the Council’s website: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS N/A

Page - 17

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 2 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

Members are requested to; 

1.1 Note the feedback following consultation with sheltered residents from all 
sheltered schemes on the use of communal Rooms.

 
1.2 Recommend to the Executive that they approve the Community Rooms Policy 

set out at Appendix 1.

1.3 Recommend to the Executive that they approve the Guest Room Policy set out 
at Appendix 3. 

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

2.1 To seek views regarding two new policies in respect of the use of community 
rooms and guest rooms in sheltered housing.

2.1.1 Community Rooms:  this is a new policy and charging framework introducing a 
consistent, open and transparent approach to the use of Community Rooms for, 
both residents and voluntary/ external agencies.

2.1.2 Guest Rooms:  this is a new policy which clearly sets out the purpose, charging 
framework and usage of this facility.

2.2 To provide details relating to the new policies.

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 

3.1 Background 

3.1.1 SKDC has 1075 residents who live on 30 sheltered schemes with a community 
room linked to the scheme. The community room is primarily a resource for the 
residents living on the sheltered scheme for which they pay the “community 
room charge”, currently £5.91pw (revised to £5.85 from 1st April 2016).This 
facility can be used for activities which benefit both residents of the scheme as 
well as those living nearby in the local community.

3.1.2 The Council does not currently have a policy to regulate the use of the 
community rooms by outside agencies and organisations. There is some 
inconsistency in practice about the use of the facility, and lack of clarity 
concerning who receives benefit from events further to inconsistent charging 
arrangements for non-residents. Commercial and voluntary organisations 
currently use the communal rooms but there are a wide variety of arrangements 
ranging from a formal regular booking to using the room on an ad hoc and 
informal basis. This raises a risk for the Council, as owner of the building, as 
there is a duty of care to the residents and the Council is not always aware of 
the external groups using the community rooms. 

3.1.3 There is inconsistency in how much external groups pay for using the 
community room. Some make a small donation to the residents’ social fund, 
some do not. Residents have raised this as an issue of fairness as they rightly 

Page - 18



Page 3 

point out that this is their facility. We have consequently recognised the need to 
develop a new policy to bring clarity. 

3.1.4   Currently the limited income generated from the use of the community rooms by 
external agencies is credited to the “Residents Social Fund” for that sheltered 
scheme. The social funds are held and managed by residents themselves, not 
the Council. Not every scheme has a social fund and not every scheme benefits 
from external groups using the room.  Many of these “Social Funds” have 
ceased to exist and the level of activities in schemes has dwindled. Details of 
the usage of community rooms can be found at Appendix 2. 

3.2 Key elements of the new Community Rooms Policy

3.2.1 We intend to promote the use of community rooms for the benefit of residents. 
This facility is often seen as an extension to their home and for which they pay 
for, and we wish to protect this by ensuring residents retain their priority for 
using this important facility.

3.2.2 At the same time we want to encourage external commercial and voluntary 
agencies to provide a range of opportunities for social interaction of residents 
with the local community, and formally allow the facilities to be used by external 
organisations. 

3.2.3 It is important that SKDC adopts a consistent, fair and transparent approach in 
the way it deals with the use of the community rooms. This includes 
implementing a reasonable charging structure for the use of the facility that 
applies to all organisations which run events and activities. Members are 
advised that the fixed charges payable by residents have not kept pace with the 
costs of providing and maintaining this facility. 

2.2.4 Resources PDG at their meeting on 26th November 2015 supported a proposal 
to regularise the basis of charging for activities and events held for the local 
community as follows;

Event duration/time Price
Up to 3 hours £20
More than 3 hours – all day £30

2.2.5 The proposed principles for the scheme are:
 Residents should have more opportunities to access services and 

activities than is currently the case.
 Recognition that the community room is an extension to residents’ 

homes and they should retain priority for its predominant use.
 Resident-led or volunteer-led activities should remain non-chargeable 

(no charge for using the community room for the activity or event).
 External organisations or individuals using the community room for 

chargeable activities, services or for business use should attract a room 
charge.

2.2.6 In future we could consider treating the income generated from these charges 
as follows:

Page - 19



Page 4 

- 40% of income received to be retained by the Council to reflect 
administration and servicing costs.   

- 60% of income received to be credited to a new “Residents Initiatives Fund”, 
held and managed by the Council.

2.2.7 Spend priorities for the proposed “Residents Initiatives Fund” can be targeted to 
promote social, health and wellbeing initiatives for residents across all sheltered 
schemes. We would naturally consult with residents on the nature and types of 
activities to be provided and encourage a reformed panel of sheltered residents 
to determine the funding bids from individual schemes and administer the 
Residents Initiatives Fund.       

2.2.8 A draft policy for community rooms use can be found at Appendix 1 

3.3 Resident Consultation Exercise

3.3.1 During January and February 2016 staff invited all sheltered residents who paid 
a community rooms charge to a consultation meeting in their respective 
scheme. 30 meetings were held which lasted about one hour. 

3.3.2 These face to face consultation meetings were well received by residents who 
really appreciated the opportunity of discussing their issues and concerns with 
staff.  They were also relieved that SKDC had no intention of withdrawing or 
demolishing these valued community facilities.

334 residents responded to our invitation which represents an excellent 
attendance rate of 31%.

3.3.3 Some 263 comments or suggestions were made in total although there were 
clear similar themed issues across all the meetings. Main issues raised 
included:

Issue Comment
General recognition of the risk of 
current informal and adhoc 
arrangement

Policy and revised booking 
form/licence addresses this

Strong support for charging 
outside groups for using the 
community rooms

The Policy addresses the fairness 
issue for residents

Benefits of attracting new groups 
and activities generally supported

Aim to bring in more activities for 
residents 

Many residents unaware of 
activities currently happening in 
room

Plan to erect wall planner in schemes 
and update regularly, and review 
information to new tenants. Insist on 7 
days notice of bookings 

Access to Community Rooms, not 
all residents had keys

Resolved since the meetings keys 
provided where necessary

Closed schemes security Revised booking form/licence partially 
addresses this by tightening 
requirements of users.

Page - 20



Page 5 

Parking constraints at some 
schemes

Sensitive bookings, clear expectations 
communicated at booking stage

Additional cleaning/vandalism Strong & clear booking form with 
expectation to “leave the room as you 
find it” & scope for remedial actions

Finish times for events Agreed as 8.00pm for closed 
schemes, 10.00pm for standalone 
schemes

Public Liability Insurance and 
Hygiene 

Clauses in Revised booking 
form/licence

Not widely advertising activities 
and use of room for hire

Agreed, respecting residents` priority 
over their facility 

Funding Distribution from RI Fund Mixed views expressed; suggest 
review in 12 months based on 
experience and allocation

Discussions have raised interest in 
residents organising and putting 
on activities

We will encourage & support through 
the Residents Initiatives Fund  

 3.3.4 Residents generally supported the proposal to charge external groups but were 
less sure about the Residents Initiatives Fund and that this would be allocated 
fairly. It is proposed this be reviewed by in 12 months time.  

3.4 Proposals for Guest Rooms

3.4.1 There are 23 Guest Rooms across the portfolio of sheltered schemes.

3.4.2 Through the proposed new Guest Room Policy, included as Appendix 3, we 
aim to adopt a consistent, fair and transparent approach in the way we manage 
Guest Rooms.

3.4.3 The current charges are £10 (£5 for older person people`s discount) and these 
have not been reviewed for many years. The existing charges do not cover the 
costs of cleaning, replacement of fittings, furniture and bedding or administering 
invoicing in respect to guest room bookings.

3.4.4 Resources PDG at their meeting on 26th November 2015 proposed to increase 
the guest room charge from April 2016 to:
 £20 for a double room 
 £15 for a single room  

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

To retain the status quo would continue the inconsistent management of the 
facilities and not address the risks or deal with the residents` perception of 
unfairness of the current arrangements.  

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

The application of both policies will be managed within existing resources

Page - 21



Page 6 

6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
Negative resident feedback Clear communication and face to face 

meetings with residents in schemes 
have been undertaken

Existing External Groups withdraw Limit charge to less than commercial 
rate 

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

7.1 An intial impact analysis has been carried out in respect to both policies which 
has shown there to be a positive or neutral impact on all equality groups.

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 There are no implications.

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

9.1 The Service Charges detailed in this report were approved by Council on 29th 
February 2016 and will come into effect from the 1st April 2016.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

10.1 The Council has power to charge for the delivery of discretionary services in 
accordance with section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003.  The power to charge 
is available provided the income received does not exceed the cost of the provision of 
the service.  The introduction of or, alteration to an existing charge must be reflected 
in the Council’s schedule of fees and charges. 

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

N/A

12.     APPENDICES:

Appendix 1  Community Rooms Policy

Appendix 2    Community Rooms Usage and Events Schedule 

Appendix 3 Guest Room Policy

Page - 22



Page 7 Page - 23



Page 8 

Appendix 1

Community Room Policy

Policy Statement

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) manages a number of community rooms 
situated within several sheltered housing schemes for the benefit of the residents on 
the sheltered schemes and for the local community. 

The Council is keen to see communal facilities used by residents as it believes this 
helps promote independent living. A range of activities are encouraged ; for example 
lunch clubs, bingo, exercise classes, and residents can use the facilities for events 
such as wedding anniversaries, birthday parties and wakes.

The Council is also keen for the schemes to play a part in local communities and 
encourages use of communal facilities for appropriate activities that residents can be 
involved in.

The Council intends that the Community Rooms policy will provide:
 Fair and transparent guidance as to how community rooms will be managed.
 Identify the priority by which the community rooms will be used.
 Clear guidance on the facilities, provisions and charges for all community room 

users. 

Objectives 

The objectives of the policy include the following aims:
 To promote the use of the community rooms for the benefit of residents, providing 

a range of opportunities to encourage and support social interaction of residents 
with the local community.

 To support the well-being of residents and older people in the local community 
through activities provided by voluntary and for profit organisations.  

Scope 

Community rooms are primarily for the use of the residents at sheltered schemes 
within which they are situated. They may also be used by agencies wishing to provide 
a service to sheltered housing residents, and other older and vulnerable people living 
in the wider community.

Hire of the community room can be provided for sheltered housing residents holding 
private functions and also for external agencies not providing a service directly to 
sheltered housing residents but attracting customers from the local community. 

Definitions

SKDC has defined community rooms as communal rooms that are available for hire by 
sheltered housing residents and external agencies for a reasonable fee. 

This definition excludes guest rooms for which a separate policy has been developed.

Page - 24



Page 9 

Acceptable use of Community Rooms

Community rooms can be accessed by a range of groups or individuals and should 
wherever possible benefit older people living within the wider community, and 
encourage social inclusion. This includes:

 Any Sheltered housing resident (of that scheme) to make use of its facilities.
 Sheltered housing residents holding communal activities
 Sheltered housing scheme residents meetings
 External agencies holding informative events for sheltered housing residents 

information
 SKDC meetings
 External agencies wishing use of community room for activities not targeted to 

sheltered housing residents
 Sheltered housing residents wishing to use the community room for a private 

function

Charges for Community Room use

The Community Room is primarily a resource for residents of the scheme for which
they pay a Community Room charge. Consequently events organised 
exclusively for residents will not attract a room hire charge.

The principles driving chargeable/non-chargeable activities in the community room are 
as follows:

 Recognition that the community room is an extension to residents’ homes and 
they should retain priority for its predominant use.

 Resident led or volunteer led activities should remain non-chargeable
 External organisations or individuals using the community room for chargeable 

activities, services or for business use will attract a room charge

All such proceeds will be paid to SKDC who will use the income to either improve 
facilities on the scheme or enable activities for the benefit of residents.

Condition of use of Community Rooms

The Council does not wish to unnecessarily restrict or run activities in community 
rooms but, as owner of the building, it does have a duty of care to residents and other 
users of the facilities, as well as needing to ensure fair usage of the facilities. 

The Council recognises that community rooms are assets of the Local Authority, 
funded by residents` rents and service charges, and that any external organisations 
using the facilities should pay a charge to help offset costs.

The Council will not allow its scheme community rooms to be used for party political 
activities (such as hustings or political meetings) or immoral or illegal activities. They 
are permitted to be utilised as local polling stations as this is convenient for the local 
community and supports the democratic process.

Page - 25



Page 10 

The Conditions of hiring and using the community rooms including details of these 
charges are included within the “Community Rooms Guidance Sheet 2016” and will be 
administered and regulated through a “Community Rooms User Agreement Form”.

Equality & Diversity

The policy and associated procedures will apply to all, regardless of race, religion, 
colour, national origin, culture, class, gender, age, sexual orientation, marital status, or 
disability.

Related Documents

The following documents are available to support this Policy:
 Community Rooms Guidance Sheet
 Community Rooms User Agreement Form

Page - 26



Page 11 

Appendix 2 Community Rooms Usage & Events 2015 

Scheme
External 
organisations

Events 
per 
week

Events 
per 
fortnight

Events 
per 
month

Events 
per 
quarter

Events 
per 
year

Occasional 
use

Almond Court 1 1  
Angel Court 2 1 1  
Archer's Way 1 1  
Belton Avenue 8 5 1 2  
Benedict Court 3 1 1 1  
Canterbury Close 1 1  
Caythorpe (Sherwood 
Rise) 1 1  
Central Place 1 2  
Church View 2 2  
Clare Close 5 4 3 2
Edmonds Close 2 3  
Emlyns Gardens 2 2 1  
Essex Road 3 2 1  
Exeter Close 4 1 1 2  
Greyfriars 1 1  
Hillary Close 1 2  
Manners Street 4 2 1 1  
Manor Court 1 1  
Meadow Close 2 1 1  
Rectory Close 0  
Riverside 1 1  
Sandon Close 4 1 1 2  
St Clements 1 2  
St Martin's Close 0  
St Nicholas Close 1 2  
Stanton Close  
Tenter Court 2 2  
Thames Road 0  
Witham Place 2 1 1  
Woods Close 0       

Page - 27



Page 12 

Appendix 3

Guest Room Policy

Policy Statement

South Kesteven District Council manages a number of ‘Guest Rooms’ within Sheltered 
Housing Schemes. 

We intend that the Guest Room Policy will provide:
 Fair and transparent guidance in respect of how guest rooms will be managed.
 Identify the priority by which guest rooms will be allocated and let.
 Clarity as to status of guest room users.

Objective 

We aim to adopt a consistent, fair and transparent approach in the way we manage 
Guest Rooms.

Scope 

This policy explains how we will manage Guest Rooms located within sheltered 
housing schemes across the district.

Definitions 

Guest Rooms are defined as rooms available for short term lettings within the above 
schemes for which a nightly fee is payable. 

Guests are defined as individuals who access guest rooms on a short term basis and 
whom are expected to either pay a nightly fee or have this fee met on their behalf by a 
third party.

Older people are defined as being persons of 60 years or more. Exceptionally, people 
suffering from a disability or ill health will be considered for sheltered housing.

Lettings Criteria

Bookings for guest rooms are accepted in the priority order laid out below:
 Relatives, friends and informal carers of sheltered tenants (of any age)
 Homeless people referred by the Council
 Visiting/newly engaged staff employed by the Council and in need of short term 

accommodation
 Other staff employed by either the Council in exceptional circumstances

Where a homeless person is referred by SKDC, acceptance as a guest will be at the 
discretion of the SKDC`s Business Manager and will in all cases be subject to a full 
risk assessment.

Acceptance of all guests is subject to availability and at the discretion of the Sheltered 
Housing Officer. In all cases, the safety and well-being of residents and staff will be 
paramount.

Page - 28



Page 13 

Visiting or newly employed staff employed by SKDC will, providing a guest room is 
available, be occasionally offered the opportunity to access guest room 
accommodation subject to agreement from the Business Manager (Housing). Where 
the newly employed member of staff is employed by SKDC, referral must be made by 
the Business Partner (Human Resources). In all cases, the safety and well-being of 
resident tenants and staff will be paramount

Services Offered

Guest Rooms will normally provide accommodation for one or two people dependent 
on availability. 

Basic furnishings will be provided including linen. The linen provided is laundered prior 
to arrival and on departure which is included in the charge.

Cooking facilities are not normally provided. However, in the case of homeless 
individuals or respite guests, cooking facilities may be available by arrangement.

Guest Room Policy

Where a guest is in need of personal care services, these should be arranged prior to 
arrival, and are not services provided by SKDC.

Where available, an emergency alarm with 24 hour response service is provided as 
part of the Guest Room service. 

A Guest Room inventory is taken prior to arrival. A copy is provided to the guest and 
forms part of the letting agreement.

Terms of Occupancy

A Guest Room letting does not constitute any form of tenancy nor does occupancy 
entitle a guest to any security of tenure.

Guests are not entitled to any notice period and are required to vacate the Guest 
Room at the request of authorised staff. In all cases, guest room lettings may not 
exceed a period of 2 weeks without prior authorisation from the Housing Business 
Manager.

Guests are liable for all fees which are agreed in advance but fees may be paid on 
their behalf by an agreed third party. Guests are expected to pay the fees within 14 
days from the date of an invoice from SKDC.  

Guests must leave the Guest Room in the condition it is found on arrival otherwise 
they are liable for additional payments incurred in restoring the room to that condition. 

Where a tenant has made the booking, they accept responsibility for the well-being of 
their guest and the good condition of the Guest Room. They agree to make good, or 
accept financial liability for, any damage caused by their guest to the Guest Room, 
furnishings and fittings, or any other aspect of property or equipment owned or 
managed by SKDC.

Page - 29



Page 14 

Guest Room Charges are set to cover the costs of their preparation and upkeep, and 
are reviewed annually.

Equality and Diversity

All bookings for Guest Rooms are accepted, subject to meeting the qualifying criteria 
above, regardless of race, religion, colour, national origin, culture, class, gender, sex, 
marital status, or disability including where double occupancy is appropriate or couples 
of the same sex wishing to share the Guest Room.

Related Documents

The following documents are available to support this Policy:

 Guest Room Charges

Page - 30



Page 1 

REPORT TO Communities P.D.G.   

REPORT OF:  Business Manager Housing

REPORT NO: BMH 107

DATE:   10th March 2016
  
TITLE: SKDC Final Draft Housing Allocations Policy 

KEY DECISION  
OR POLICY 
FRAMEWORK 
PROPOSAL:

Policy framework proposals
The existing allocations policy, which introduced a banding system, has 
been in operation since September 2013. As well as incorporating 
legislative changes and good practice, the new policy aims to address a 
number of omissions and be more explicit in conveying to customers and 
other partner agencies the criteria against which individuals/households 
were prioritised.

The principles behind the revised allocations policy are:

 Reduction of voids
 Making best use of stock
 Taking account of need across the district
 Enabling those in the most need to have priority
 Facilitating sustainable communities
 Enabling mobility
 Acknowledging behaviours

EXECUTIVE 
MEMBER: 
NAME AND 
DESIGNATION:

Councillor Frances Cartwright
Exec Member for Housing

CONTACT 
OFFICER:

Lisa Barker 

INITIAL 
IMPACT
ANALYSIS:

Equality and 
Diversity

Carried out and 
Referred to in paragraph (7) below
EI assessment due to be carried out on 3rd 
March

Full impact assessment
Required:

Page - 31

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION 
ACT:

This report is publicly available via the Your Council and  Democracy link on 
the Council’s website: www.southkesteven.gov.uk

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

1. Presentation to Communities PDG on 19th November 2015 and 
minutes of this meeting.

2. SKDC Housing Allocations Policy Review for Special Meeting 19th 
January 2015

1. RECOMMENDATIONS

That subject to final consultation with the PDG, the policy document is circulated to 
external partners for formal consultation.

2. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

To advise the PDG of progress towards the development of a new Allocations Policy, 
the consultation framework and timetable.

3. DETAILS OF REPORT 
The current allocations scheme was agreed by Cabinet on 4/3/13 and implemented on 
23/9/13.  In accordance with section 20 of the Allocations Policy 2013 a review of the 
policy is to be carried out 12 months after implementation.  It is also good practice to 
regularly review and amend the policy in line with any legal changes or case law 
updates.  The intervening period has allowed for the scheme to be tested and has 
raised some issues in relation to its operation. The current policy is too generalised and 
open to challenge on several levels.  Most notably the decision to exclude an applicant 
from the register is currently made by one officer and open to legal challenge. The 
intention is to implement a refreshed Allocations Policy using the findings of the recent 
review.

The revised Allocations Policy has addressed issues on which the current policy is 
silent and has proposed changes to other features. The revisions also make the policy 
more robust and transparent. The changes and new entries are identified in the tables 
below.

Table 1 - New Items

To award greater priority to those social tenants who are under-occupying social housing.
Provide a clear procedure on when and why applications are refused access to the register or 
reduced in priority.  The policy is to be more transparent on the decision making process.  Right 
to review also made clear and robust.
Higher priority to be awarded to potentially homeless applicants who have received a valid 
notice to vacate their current accommodation.  This will help to reduce the number of statutory 
homeless duties. 
Applicant’s assets and income levels are to be taken into consideration and applicants may be 
excluded or reduced in priority depending upon the resources available to them, to find their 
own accommodation.
Make provision for Right to Move within the policy
To include provision for witness protection and harassment/threat of violence
Management priority and direct offers – power to award additional priority e.g. for households 
who have multiple/complex needs and to make better use of housing stock.
Current policy is silent on local connection criteria for the ex-spouses of serving HM Forces 

Page - 32

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


Page 3 

personnel.  Not all have a local connection to anywhere in the UK due to living abroad for many 
years and no longer having immediate family who may provide them with a local connection. 
Proposal to introduce an exemption for ex-spouses of HM Forces personnel who do 
automatically satisfy the Council’s local connection criteria.  We propose this exemption will 
only apply for a limited time following the divorce/separation.  This proposal was made following 
a request from the Lincolnshire Armed Forces Community Covenant and the Army Families 
Federation.

           Table 2 – Changed Items

Existing Proposed
The current policy lacks detail and 
therefore open to challenge from 
customers and partners.  Officers 
frequently have to explain and justify 
banding decisions due to lack of 
explanation within the policy.

New policy provides substantially more 
detail to increase transparency on how 
decisions are made, when and by whom.

Applicants have a local connection if they 
have lived in SKDC area 6 months 
preceding application or 3 out of the last 5 
years.  

Increase this to living in SKDC for 2 years 
preceding the application to bring this in 
line with the Secretary of States 
recommendations.

Social tenants under-occupying social 
housing currently only given band 3 
priority

Propose to increase priority for under-
occupation in line with the priority 
awarded for overcrowding

Current policy allows for refused access 
to the register, however, it is not very 
clear and open to challenge, therefore 
very rarely used.

Proposed policy is provides greater detail 
on the why an applicant may be refused 
access, who will make those decisions 
and how.  There is a clearer right to 
review the decision also.

Current policy allows for applicants to be 
refused access or awarded reduced 
priority if they own their own home or 
have savings of over £16K.

New policy proposes in addition to 
excluding/reducing priority for home 
ownership and saving that we also 
consider refusing access to households 
with a single income over £30K or joint 
income households where income is over 
£50K. Still refusing/reducing priority for 
assets over £16K and home ownership.

Current policy is silent on several 
categories.

Propose introduction of priority issues 
including regeneration, harassment, threat 
of violence and witness protection

Current policy is inflexible and allows little 
opportunity for management discretion or 
direct offers.  Policy is almost silent apart 
from one line in the banding table that 
says “any case agreed by management to 
have an exceptional need to move” but no 
indication as to what would be considered 
exceptional.

New policy to provide more detail on when 
management can award additional priority 
on the register e.g. for those households 
with multiple/complex needs that are not 
already provided for within the policy.  
Transfer applicants that do not fall into 
one of the reasonable preference 
categories can be dealt with outside of the 
allocations policy. Communities PDG 
supported this approach as it enables an 
authority to make the best use of its stock. 
Work has commenced to scope how 
internal transfers will be managed.
Direct offers may be used to make best 
use of housing stock for example to offer 
a property to an applicant who may not be 
the next person eligible for that property 

Page - 33



Page 4 

because it is good business sense.  This 
category will be monitored closely to avoid 
inappropriate use and increase 
transparency.

Right to Move criteria was introduced by 
the government in 2015 and has not been 
incorporated into the existing policy as yet 
although is adhered to in practice. 

Propose the inclusion of the Right to Move 
criteria for those applicants currently living 
outside of SKDC and who do not have a 
local connection.  The Right to Move 
requires local authorities to make 
provision within their allocation policies to 
allow for a quota of applicants who satisfy 
the eligibility criteria to be exempt from the 
normal local connection requirements due 
to employment/possible financial hardship 
if they do not move to SKDC. 

In developing the policy, the housing team have consulted with:

 PDG Communities – 2 sessions:  PDG has requested that they have sight of 
the final draft document before the main consultation period commences.

 Internal stakeholders: legal services, tenancy management, asset 
management, repairs, environmental health, planning, housing options team 
and community safety.

Once PDG have had the opportunity to make any final comments, the document will be 
circulated to stakeholders for consultation.  Stakeholders include:

 RSL’s with housing stock in management in the district
 Lincolnshire district councils
 SK Homeless Forum
 Tenant’s Panel
 Councillors – 2 sessions will be scheduled
 Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Service
 A copy will be placed on the website alongside opportunities to respondents to 

provide feedback

It is proposed to award the full three months consultation to this project.  This is to 
enable sufficient time to allow the proposals contained in the Housing and Planning 
Bill, currently going through Parliament to be understood.  We aim to start the 
consultation in April until June 2016.  Once the consultation period has closed, the 
policy will be amended to take into account the views of consultees.

A final policy will be presented to the council’s Executive for approval.

4. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

It is a statutory requirement for local authorities to develop and publish a Housing 
Allocations Policy.

           
Government policy and the law have changed.  These changes need to be reflected in 
the Councils adopted Allocations Policy. 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Page - 34



Page 5 

Modest resources will be required for the development of a revised policy and      
predominantly involves staff time. A small allocation has been provided by government 
to account for IT changes required as a result of changing government policy.

         6. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are included 
in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
The current policy is open to 
challenge and possible 
damage to the Council’s 
reputation.

Revise the current policy to increase 
transparency

7. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS

An Impact analysis will be undertaken on the final revised policy

8. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

Crime and Disorder issues will be considered in the final revised policy. 

9. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

Any additional costs associated with this review will be met from existing resources.  
Should there be financial implications that would have an impact on the 30 year 
business model then these will be modelled as part of the review.

10. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

10.1 The Council’s policy must meet the requirements of the existing legislation and 
government guidance in respect of allocations. In particular, the policy must have 
regard to the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

10.2 The effects of the amendments brought in by the Localism Act 2011 are that: 

 Local housing authorities in England the power to determine what classes of persons 
are or not qualifying persons to be allocated social housing;

 Allow local housing authorities considerable discretion in giving preference to certain 
groups and allows additional preference to be given to applicants such as those in 
work, those making a contribution to the local community or foster carers; 

 Maintain certain classes of persons who must be give reasonable preference for an 
allocation; 

 Disqualify certain classes of applicants (mainly those subject to immigration control) for 
allocation; 

 Prevent disqualification of members of HM Armed Forces for the lack of local 
connection;

 Take the existing social tenants out of the scope of Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996 for 
the purposes of transfers, with the exception of those who have reasonable preference. 

10.3 It is a requirement that all relevant stakeholders and Council Members are consulted 
on the proposed changes.

10.4 Any proposed changes must comply with the Council duty under the equalities act and 
any other relevant duty and, an equality impact analysis must be completed.   

Page - 35



Page 6 

Legal Considerations

10.5 Any amendments to the allocations policy require a consultation period which can vary 
from 2 weeks up to 12 weeks depending upon the nature impact of the proposal 
(Consultation principles – www.gov.uk)

10.6 Any changes have been made with regard to the following:

 Housing Act 1985
 Housing Act 1996 parts VI and VII
 Homelessness Act 2002
 Localism Act 2011
 Allocation of Accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England 

2012
 Allocating Social Housing (England) 11 March 2015 
 Allocating Social Housing (England) 8 Jan 2014
 Statutory Instrument – The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed 

Forces Personnel( (England) Regulations 2012
 Statutory Instrument – Right to Move March 2015
 Armed Forces Community Covenant

11. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

12.     APPENDICES:

Page - 36

http://www.gov.uk/

	Agenda
	5 Notes from the meeting held on 14 January 2016
	6 Updates from previous meetings
	national-proposed-implementation-dates

	8 Review of Communal Facilities in Sheltered Housing Schemes
	9 Allocations Policy

